IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC13-719

JAMES AREN DUCKETT,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR LAKE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Mary Elizabeth Wells Florida Bar No. 0866067 Law Office of M.E. Wells 623 Grant Street SE Atlanta, Georgia 30312-3240 Telephone 404-688-7530 mewells27@comcast.net Michael C. Meyer
Florida Bar No. 0056362
Capital Collateral Regional Counsel
- South
101 NE 3rd Ave., Suite 400
Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33301
Telephone 954-713-1284

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

James Duckett is innocent. He has presented to the court a multitude of constitutional violations, all of which support his assertion that he has been imprisoned and sentenced to death for a crime which he did not commit.

A. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS

In May of 1988, Mr. Duckett was convicted of first degree murder and one count of sexual battery, crimes which he did not commit. He was sentenced to death by a jury vote of eight to four. The evidence against Mr. Duckett was circumstantial.

On direct appeal, this Court affirmed Mr. Duckett's convictions and sentences. *State v. Duckett*, 568 So. 2d 891 (Fla. 1990).

Mr. Duckett filed a Motion to Vacate Convictions and Sentence on May 1, 1992, which was amended in November of 1994 (PC-R1. 1859-70; 337-470). Evidentiary hearings were conducted on claims I, II - A, C (¶22-23), D, E and F, III, V and IX on January 7-8, 1997, October 28-30, 1997, December 17, 1997, October 26-27, 1998, and February 19, 1999 (PC-R1. 778).

On August 13, 2001, the circuit court signed the state's proposed order verbatim, errors included, denying Mr. Duckett relief on all claims (PC-R1. 1782-1819). A timely appeal, which was consolidated with Mr. Duckett's habeas

petition, was denied by this Court on October 6, 2005. *Duckett v. State*, 918 So. 2d 224 (Fla. 2005) ¹ Rehearing was denied on December 22, 2005.

Mr. Duckett's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus was denied by the United States District Court on March 25, 2010, and his motion to alter or amend the judgment was denied on June 1, 2010. The district court denied Mr. Duckett a COA on August 23, 2010. The Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals denied Mr. Duckett a COA on October 26, 2010.

Mr. Duckett filed a Successive Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentence on November 29, 2010, which was amended on January 24, 2012, and again on September 19, 2012. The initial motion raised four issues: 1) this Court's failure to properly analyze Mr. Duckett's ineffectiveness claims pursuant to *Porter v. McCollum*, 2) newly discovered evidence regarding the presentation of false testimony from the key witness at trial, Gwen Gurley, 3) the due process violation that occurred when the new perjury statutes were used to effectively prohibit Ms. Gurley from testifying truthfully in the evidentiary hearing, and 4)

¹Following oral argument, the Court *sua sponte* remanded the case to the circuit court to "determine whether clothing exists that can be tested for DNA." (PC-R1. 1891). Following remand, the case was returned to this Court and consolidated with the pending appeal and state habeas. The parties filed supplemental briefs addressing the issues in the remand. No further oral argument was permitted.

newly discovered evidence regarding the veracity of the trial testimony of FBI hair analyst Michael Malone. The January 24 amended motion raised two issues: 5) newly discovered evidence of an independent hair examiner hired by the FBI which called into question the veracity of Malone's hair analysis and testimony and 6) a revision of the *Porter* claim. The second amended motion consolidated Claim IV in the initial motion with Claim V in the January 24 motion, per instruction from the circuit court. The circuit court summarily denied all claims without an evidentiary hearing.

Following the denial, Mr. Duckett perfected his appeal to this Court.

B. STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS²

Gwen Gurley's testimony was the lynchpin of the prosecution's case. Not only was she the sole witness to place the victim, Teresa McAbee, in Mr. Duckett's car, but she testified he drove off alone and then circled back around, picking up his passenger on the side of the Circle K by the dumpster. The only inference the jury could draw from this, and the proposition the state argued throughout the trial, was that Mr. Duckett snuck back to pick up Ms. McAbee so that he could sexually

²The facts regarding this case were presented in detail in Mr. Duckett's appeal to this Court following the denial of his initial Rule 3.830 motion. In this brief, Mr. Duckett will only outline the facts directly relevant to the claims presented herein, but relies on the facts as previously presented in support of his assertion that this Court must conduct cumulative analyses of the claims.

assault and kill her.3 Of course, the testimony was false.

Two witnesses were with Ms. Gurley on the night Ms. McAbee was last seen and both discount Ms. Gurley's account of events on that night and neither of those witnesses, Vicky Davis and Jessie Gaitain, support Ms. Gurley's assertion that she ever saw Ms. McAbee in Mr. Duckett's car (PC-R1. D. Exh. 9, p. 6; PC-R1. D. Exh. 8, p 8-9; PC-R1. 1326, 1402). Ms. Davis has also testified that Ms. Gurley asked her to lie to help Ms. Gurley get out of jail, that the state officers were present during this discussion, and that the state turned off the tape during her deposition and told her what to say when she had difficulty answering the questions (PC-R1. 1326, 1327, 1329-30, 1331). Neither Mr. Gaitan or Ms. Davis were called to present this critical evidence at trial. Several witnesses, including Roscoe Higgenbotham, Raine Payne and Troy Merck, have testified in postconviction that Ms. Gurley lied at trial in order to get out of jail earlier (PC-R1. 1341-42; 2/24/05 hrg., p. 48; 10/29/97 hrg., p. 398)). Ms. Gurley's sister, Mary Gurley, testified about men from the state attorneys office getting Gwen out of jail pre-trial and letting her see her boyfriend and giving her a script that she was to try to remember word for word (10/30/97 hrg, pp. 376-378). None of these witnesses

³Because Ms. Gurley was pregnant, the parties agreed to let her testify in a video deposition, without the scrutiny of a live jury.

was called to testify in front of the jury. Prison records presented in previous evidentiary hearings support a finding that Ms. Gurley was in fact released early from the prison sentence she was serving at the time of Mr. Duckett's trial.⁴ When Ms. Gurley was called as a witness in post-conviction proceedings, she asserted her Fifth Amendment rights to avoid a charge of perjury by contradictory statements

Since her trial testimony in 1988, Ms. Gurley has recanted that version of events in at least six separate interviews to different people. One of these interviews was in fact a sworn statement with a court reporter present. Ms. Gurley originally recanted her trial testimony in a taped statement with investigator Ron Hill in June of 1989 (PC-R1. Def. Ex. 3). In August of 1989, Ms. Gurley confirmed this recantation in detail in a statement under oath to trial attorney Jack Edmund and Mr. Hill (PC-R1. Def. Ex. 4). There were also major inconsistencies in Mr. Gurley's many statements. Though this impeachment evidence was available, defense counsel failed to investigate and provide it to the jury,

⁴Ms. Gurley's Department of Corrections file indicates that she was sentenced to two years on three counts of grand theft auto with credit for 104 days on November 24, 1987, that she was not eligible for parole consideration and was to serve the maximum sentence, and that her sentence of incarceration was to expire on August 11, 1989 (D. Exh. 38). In fact, Ms. Gurley was released from prison on April 14, 1988, one year and four months before the expiration of her sentence and one week before her video deposition in Mr. Duckett's case (*Id.*; D. Exh. 39).

sacrificing an opportunity to weaken the star witness's testimony. Mr. Duckett subpoenaed Ms. Gurley to the prior evidentiary hearing to allow her to once and for all tell the true facts surrounding her testimony in 1988, but she was unwilling to testify due to newly enacted perjury laws.

There is a wealth of evidence that corroborates Ms. Gurley's recantation, as opposed to her trial testimony. Much of that evidence was available at trial and much of it was presented in Mr. Duckett's initial 3.850 proceedings. Most recently, Ms. Gurley's own two children have provided further evidence that Ms. Gurley testified falsely at Mr. Duckett's trial (PC-R2. 122-127). Unfortunately for Mr. Duckett, the jury did not hear any of this evidence, and as a result he was found guilty of a murder he did not commit.

The other key evidence offered against Mr. Duckett at his trial came through the testimony of FBI hair analyst Michel Malone. After the State's initial hair expert from the FDLE concluded she was not able to make a match between the question hair and Mr. Duckett's known hair, the State made the unprecedented move of expert shopping and sent the hair to Malone at the FBI. Mr. Malone was able to make the match that was apparently sought by the State, and testified to that during the trial. In his initial postconviction proceedings, Mr. Duckett presented significant evidence that Malone had testified falsely in previous cases, that

Malone had lied in Mr. Duckett's case, and that Malone had violated FBI policy when he retested the hair evidence in this case after it had been tested by the FDLE. Mr. Duckett presented further evidence that the chain of custody of the hair was destroyed by the expert shopping the case. Also, a second unknown hair which was found on the victim and did not match Mr. Duckett was not disclosed to the jury at trial. Mr. Malone's work has been questioned on several occasions. After he was found to be not credible in a case examined by the DOJ, the FBI began sending out independent examiners to retest evidence in cases in which he had worked as an expert. When this independent examiner reviewed Malone's work in Mr. Duckett's case, he concluded that all areas of Mr. Malone's work and testimony he had been asked to review raised concerns.

In April of 1997, the Department of Justice issued a report detailing many deficiencies within the FBI Laboratories.⁵ The report detailed several problems within the laboratories, including, but not limited to, problems with the testimony of Mr. Malone in a 1985 hearing relating to former U.S. District Judge Alcee Hastings. The DOJ investigation disclosed that not only had Malone not performed

⁵This report was the result of an investigation done by the DOJ after FBI analyst Frederic Whitehurst testified in a high profile 1995 federal case that he was told by his superiors to ignore findings that did not comport to the prosecution's theory of the case.

the test he testified he had performed, but that his testimony was in "[d]irect contradiction to laboratory findings supported by data" and that he "present[ed] apparently and potentially exculpatory information as incriminating" (*Id.* at 383). The report concluded that Malone had "falsely testified that he had himself performed the tensile test and that he testified outside his expertise and inaccurately concerning the test results" (*Id.* at 385; *see also* PC-R1. 1783)⁶. The DOJ found that Malone's false testimony was inexcusable and criticized the FBI for failing to properly address the problem (D. Exh. 69, p. 17).

Neither the jury nor the judge heard critical evidence relating to the tire casts taken at the scene. Both Mascotte Police Chief Mike Brady and Officer Troy Smith were present at the crime scene the day the body was discovered and noted where various vehicles were parked. After they learned that someone from the sheriff's office had taken plaster casts of tire prints at the crime scene, they returned to the scene to specifically attempt to find evidence of the location of the tire prints. This occurred in the evening after the crime scene perimeter had been taken down and the investigating officers had left. These officers thoroughly investigated the area around the pumphouse and the dirt road that ran through the area and the only

⁶In response to the FBI's contention that it was inappropriate to characterize Malone's testimony as false, the DOJ responded: "We here use the term 'false' as it is employed in other legal contexts; that is, to describe something that is untrue or not in accord with the facts" (D. Exh. 69, p. 385).

evidence of plaster casts being taken was in the area where all of the cars, including Mascotte police cars, had been parked earlier that day (PC-R1. 1194-95).

The State's case was that the victim's fingerprints were on the hood of the police car where she was sexually assaulted. Defense counsel failed to present an expert to counter this information. Fingerprint expert Mervin Smith was available to counter the State's erroneous arguments concerning the fingerprints (PC-R1. 1065-66).

Counsel also failed to present critical evidence concerning Mr. Duckett's police vehicle that would have precluded the scenario the State proposed during the trial. The State's theory required the victim to remain on the car for at least some period of time. Yet, the Mascotte police officer who drove the car after Mr. Duckett testified in an evidentiary hearing that the hood of the car heated up in a very short period of time so that you could not lean on it for more than a brief time or you would risk being burned. He testified that he could not even write tickets on the hood of the car because of the excessive heat (PC-R1. 1115-16). This officer called Mr. Duckett's attorney on the end of the first day of trial and gave him this information (PC-R1. 1116), yet Mr. Duckett's attorney unreasonably failed to present this critical evidence to the jury.

The coup de grace of the State's case was the testimony of the three

Williams rule witnesses. During argument concerning the Williams rule evidence, the trial court noted that the Williams rule evidence did not lead to the conclusion of first degree murder (R. 1386). This comment indicates that the trial court believed the evidence was only relevant, if at all, to the charge of sexual battery. Defense counsel argued that it became apparent early on that the purpose of the sexual battery charge was to attempt to introduce the Williams rule evidence. Yet, defense counsel, knowing this, stipulated to consolidation of the charges of sexual battery and first degree murder (R. 2325). There can be no tactical or strategic reason for this. Counsel's actions paved the way for this highly prejudicial testimony. There is much more than a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's actions, the results of the proceedings would have been different.

After the trial court had ruled that the *Williams* rule evidence was to be admitted, it became imperative that the defense impeach these witnesses. Defense counsel failed to call witnesses who could have provided critical evidence to rebut the State's case, such as Peggy Locke who would have pointed out that Linda Upshaw was drunk on the night of the alleged incident. She also would have testified that at no time did Ms. Upshaw mention any alleged sexual advances by Mr. Duckett. Again either the State failed to disclose or defense counsel failed to discover this impeachment evidence and Mr. Duckett was denied an adversarial

testing.

In his ruling to admit the evidence of these witnesses, the trial court stressed that Mr. Duckett "used his badge of authority" to lure these young women into his car (R. 1402-03). The court found that the evidence was relevant to the issues of identity and common scheme or plan because each incident happened when the defendant was in uniform and on duty. Ms. Upshaw testified that the alleged incident with Mr. Duckett occurred on a Friday night, May 1, 1987. Though defense counsel attempted to ascertain through various witnesses that Mr. Duckett did not work on that evening (R. 1543, 1678), he failed to introduce concrete evidence in the form of Mr. Duckett's time sheet that Mr. Duckett did not work on Friday, May 1, 1987 (PC-R1, D. Exh. 1). Defense counsel testified that he had no tactical nor strategic reason for failing to use this time sheet to 1) argue against the admissibility of this witness's testimony and/or 2) impeach this witness (PC-R1. 978). Defense counsel's failure to present this critical evidence to the Court and the jury constituted deficient performance.

From the moment Officer Chuck Johnson met James Duckett on May 11 and decided he was somehow involved in the homicide ("the feeling was there"), any chance of investigating other suspects ceased. Had defense counsel deposed Chief Brady prior to trial, he would have discovered that it was common practice for this

sheriff to pick a suspect and build a case around him. Though Shirley Williams was a witness for both defense and prosecution, she was never deposed. A thorough interview with Ms. Williams would have uncovered the fact that Salvador Calisto, one of the three Mexican boys last seen with Teresa, returned to the Circle K after midnight, was in an extremely agitated state, and made a call to someone on the pay phone out front (PC-R1. 1127).

On June 2, 1987, an all points bulletin was sent from St. Tammany Parish Sheriff's Office to "All Florida" (PC-R1, Def. Ex. 10). This bulletin asked the receiving offices to advise if any department had a homicide on May 20, 1987, or in the days before where suspects are three Mexican males possibly driving a 70's model bluish/green Chevy (*Id.*). The bulletin adds that the homicide possibly occurred in a state park, beach, or lake area (*Id.*). A copy of this bulletin was received by sheriff's investigator Rocky Harris pretrial (PC-R1. 1629) and was in the files from the sheriff's office received by post-conviction counsel pursuant to a public records request. Defense counsel testified in post-conviction that this evidence was never disclosed to him prior to trial (PC-R1. 1009) and that the evidence was important because it corroborated the statement of Richard Reynolds and because it would have provided further leads for investigation (PC-R1. 1009).

Also, though it is common police practice to search the house of the victim

in a homicide, this was never done in this case (PC-R1. 1630). This was a home where several people who were not blood relatives of the victim lived (PC-R1. 1159, 1629). It was not uncommon for different men to hang around the house (PC-R1. 1159). The boyfriend of the victim's mother, Tony Tula, was never fingerprinted, gave no hair samples and was never interviewed by the police (PC-R1. 1159). Had defense counsel spoken with Wayne Butler, the victim's uncle, he would have discovered that the victim did not like many of these men and often stayed with her aunt and her uncle to avoid these men (PC-R1. 1160). Mr. Butler testified in post-conviction that there was one man who particularly scared the victim, a man known as "Peoples" (PC-R1. 1159). She hated this man because he would grab her and try to pull her on the couch every time she walked by, and often tried to touch her in a sexual manner (PC-R1. 1159). "Peoples" disappeared from the area soon after the murder and was never investigated as a suspect. "Peoples" was also never fingerprinted, gave no hair samples and was never interviewed by the police.

Wayne Butler also testified that he was notified of the victim's death by her Aunt Shirley somewhere between 7:15 a.m. and 7:30 a.m. on the morning of May 12 (PC-R1. 1160). Though Shirley testified at trial that she was down in the area of the pumphouse early that morning and did not see the body (R. 1797), in a

conversation with Wayne Butler before 7:30 a.m. she said the victim was probably in the lake behind Polly's Bar in Mascotte (PC-R1. 1160). Yet, according to police reports, the victim's body was not discovered until after 9:00 a.m. and the next of kin was not notified until 11:10 a.m.

The jury also never heard evidence of two other prime suspects in this murder, Charles and Louie Partain. The Partains were friends of the victim's mother and were both seen in the victim's yard between 8:00 and 8:30 a.m. the day the body was discovered (PC-R1. 1179, 1629). Had defense counsel investigated, he would have discovered numerous witnesses to corroborate Mane Davis, a witness who could testify about the violent reputation of these brothers (PC-R1. 1161, 1171). Neither of these men were ever investigated by the Sheriff's Office in relation to this homicide.

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