TGEGKXGF."; 1; 14235"372: 54. "Vj qo cu'F0J cm'Engtm''Uwrtgo g'Eqwtv

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES AREN DUCKETT,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC13-719

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR LAKE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 998818

Office of the Attorney General 444 Seabreeze Blvd., 5th Floor Daytona Beach, Florida 32118 Primary E-Mail: ken.nunnelley@myfloridalegal.com E-Filing: CapApp@MyFloridaLegal.com (386)238-4990 (386)226-0457 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

##

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

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Summary denial of the "hair evidence" claim was proper. That claim is procedurally barred because was raised and decided on direct appeal. Duckett's attempts to fabricate a "Brady claim" are unavailing -- such a claim does not lie when based on matters that did not exist until years after his trial. The "Robertson report" component of this claim is not a basis for relief because that report is so non-specific that it is not a basis for relief. Based upon the testimony from trial, it is clear that the evidence the jury heard about hair comparison was presented with a full explanation of the limitations on that sort of analysis.

The Porter v. McCollum claim is not a basis for relief because Porter is not retroactively applicable to final decisions, as the trial court properly found. Duckett's argument for application of Porter to his case is an argument for retroactivity, even though he tries to disguise his claim as something else. In any event, that "claim," whatever it is, is procedurally barred because it could have been but was not raised in the Circuit Court.

The "Gwen Gurley" claim is procedurally barred because it is untimely, and is successive. Duckett has already litigated this claim and lost. The component of that claim that challenges § 837.021 of the *Florida Statutes* is procedurally barred because

it is untimely in addition to being wholly meritless.

#### STANDARDS OF REVIEW

Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851(f)(5)(B) permits summary denial of a successive motion for post-conviction relief without an evidentiary hearing "[i]f the motion, files, and records in the case conclusively show that the movant is entitled to no relief." Williamson v. State, 961 So. 2d 229, 234 (Fla. 2007). This Court reviews the circuit court's decision to summarily deny a successive rule 3.851 motion *de novo*, accepting the movant's factual allegations as true to the extent they are not refuted by the record, and affirming the ruling if the record conclusively shows that the movant is entitled to no relief. Walton v. State, 3 So. 3d 1000, 1005 (Fla. 2009), citing State v. Coney, 845 So. 2d 120, 137 (Fla. 2003); Fla. R.Crim. P. 3.851(f)(5)(B).

In order to support summary denial, "the trial court must either state its rationale in the order denying relief or attach portions of the record that would refute the claims." *Nixon v. State*, 932 So. 2d 1009, 1018 (Fla. 2006). Here, as in *Rose v. State*, 985 So. 2d 500 (Fla. 2008), the trial court entered a comprehensive written order setting out the basis for the summary denial of Duckett's successive motion to vacate and providing for meaningful appellate review. *Id.*, *citing Nixon*, 932 So. 2d at 1018.

#### ARGUMENT

#### I. SUMMARY DENIAL OF THE "HAIR EVIDENCE" CLAIM WAS PROPER

On pages 17-33 of his brief, Duckett says that he is entitled to relief based upon the claimed "defects" in the hair analysis evidence presented at his 1985 trial. Despite the length of the argument devoted to this issue, Duckett makes no mention of the Circuit Court's order, and does not explain why that order is in error. Florida law is settled that a trial court's summary denial of a motion to vacate will be affirmed where the law and competent substantial evidence supports its findings. *Diaz v. Dugger*, 7109 So. 2d 865, 868 (Fla. 1998).

This claim, as it was before the Circuit Court, was a combination of Claim 4 from Duckett's November 29, 2010 postconviction relief motion, and Claim 5 from the January 24, 2012 amendment to that motion. What became Claim 7 subsumes and replaces prior Claims 4 and 5. In 2005, this Court resolved the "hair issue," saying:

With respect to the hair evidence, Duckett claims that the State improperly engaged in expert shopping. This claim is procedurally barred because it should have been raised on direct appeal. See, e.g., Sireci v. State, 773 So. 2d 34, 40 n. 10 (Fla. 2000); Harvey v. Dugger, 656 So. 2d 1253, 1256 (Fla. 1995). Duckett also claims that the State's witness, FBI expert Michael Malone, was not credible. The circuit court concluded that "[t]he attack upon Agent Malone of the FBI is unfounded and without merit." This conclusion is supported by the record. At the evidentiary hearing established that Malone had it was received proficiency tests in the examination of hair and fiber and failed. Furthermore, Malone had never had

previously testified as an expert in the field of hair and fiber, and no court has refused to recognize him as an expert. On direct appeal, we discussed Malone's credibility: "Duckett's counsel extensively challenged Malone's credibility during the cross-examination of Malone and during the testimony of a Florida Department of Law Enforcement expert on hair analysis. It is not our responsibility to reweigh that evidence. The expert's credibility was resolved by the jury." Duckett, 568 So. 2d at 895. [FN12]

[FN12] Duckett also claims that a conviction cannot stand when based solely on hair comparison testimony. This claim is procedurally barred because it could have been raised on direct appeal.

Duckett also makes several *Brady* claims concerning the hair evidence. Three requirements must be met in order to establish a *Brady* claim:

The evidence at issue must be favorable to the accused, either because it is exculpatory, or because it is impeaching; that evidence must have been suppressed by State, either willfully the or inadvertently; and prejudice must have ensued.

Strickler v. Greene, 527 U.S. 263, 281-82, 119 S.Ct. 1936, 144 L.Ed.2d 286 (1999); see Wright v. State, 857 So. 2d 861, 869 (Fla. 2003) (quoting Strickler). Furthermore, "[t]he burden is on the defendant to demonstrate that the evidence he claims as Brady material satisfies each of these elements. Even where favorable evidence is suppressed, a new trial will not be necessary where it is determined that the favorable evidence did not result in prejudice." Id. at 870. Duckett's Brady claims satisfy these None of requirements. His conclusory claim that a second unknown hair was found on the victim but never presented to the jury is denied as insufficiently pled because it fails to identify the alleged hair as Brady material and fails to argue the effect the evidence would have had at trial. Duckett also asserts that the State failed to disclose information that could have been used to impeach agent Malone. Specifically, Duckett claims that the State should have disclosed information contained in a 1997 Department of Justice report indicating that Malone testified falsely in a court proceeding in 1985. However, this 1997 report did not exist when Duckett was tried in 1988 or when we affirmed his conviction and sentence in 1990. Duckett fails to establish that the State "either willfully or inadvertently" suppressed the information. *Strickler*, 527 U.S. at 282, 119 S.Ct. 1936.

Duckett v. State, 918 So. 2d 224, 234-235 (Fla. 2005). Duckett is not entitled to relitigate matters that have already been decided adversely to him.

When stripped of its hyperbole, Duckett's motion as amended is an attempt to relitigate the hair analysis issue based upon the "Robertson report"<sup>2</sup> and the testimony from an evidentiary hearing in the *Brett Bogle* case in Hillsborough County.<sup>3</sup> The circuit court denied relief in the *Bogle* case -- that order was attached to the State's Answer as Exhibit A. (V6, R873-934).

When the Robertson report is objectively considered, the most that it says is that Robertson would not, in 2011, write the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> To the extent that Duckett says that this report "should have been disclosed" to him, he does not explain how the State could disclose something that did not come into being until years after his trial. That suggestion is absurd. Duckett does not have a *Brady* claim available to him under these facts.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Duckett makes various additional attacks directed toward hair examiner Malone throughout the amendment to the motion. Those various claims are baseless and irrelevant. For example, whatever may have happened in "comparative bullet lead analysis" cases has no bearing here. Likewise, the news articles attached to the motion have no relevance to anything.

same sort of report that was standard in 1987/1988, when this case originated. Robertson never says that Malone testified untruthfully, and the transcript of Malone's testimony at trial reflects that the limitations of hair comparison were fully explored at that time. The evidence of guilt, and the significance of the hair comparison, is set out at pages 1-5, above. When that evidence, which is unchallenged, is considered against the non-specific "Robertson" claim, there is no basis for relief.<sup>4</sup>

In denying relief on this claim, the Circuit Court said:

The FBI or Justice Department, with respect to Malone and the other cases, hired Mr. Robertson to review Malone's findings on other cases but not the Duckett case. The Defense then hired Robertson to review Malone's work and testimony in the Duckett case which took eight (8) hours and resulted in a document called "Independent Case Review Report." The five (5) page "Report" consists of five (5) questions posed by the Defense Attorney to Robertson and his answers. The Court will address each question and answer.

Question #1. Did Malone follow accepted protocols? Robertson's answer was that he was unable to determine this question because no acceptable protocols for hair analysis existed until the mid-1990s. Obviously, there can be no need for an evidentiary hearing to determine Malone's compliance with a protocol that did not exist and would not exist for seven (7) to eight (8) years after the Malone examination.

Question #2. Were Malone's examination results in his

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Much of the *Initial Brief* is devoted to a discussion of "Comparative Bullet Lead Analysis," a procedure that has nothing to do with this case.

report consistent with his "bench notes?" Robertson's answer is no. When Robertson's answer is read, you would expect a finding or measurement in the report different than in the examination notes. This is not the case. Specifically, Robertson's complaints are 1) there is no date for screening or hair notes, and 2) small parts of notes are illegible and no abbreviation key. The report, however, is dated. Robertson gives no explanation as to why no date or no abbreviation key could result in a mistaken or unreliable conclusion by Malone and the Court sees no need for an evidentiary hearing to ascertain a date or abbreviation key. Further, Robertson does not state that he does not understand the abbreviations as seen in his assumption that Malone's findings were confirmed by examiner V.B.

Questions #3, #4, #5. Did Malone's testimony agree with his report and notes and was his testimony within his area of expertise? Robertson answers no to all three (3) questions essentially for the same reason. Malone's testimony is that there is a "very high degree of probability" that the pubic hair on the victim was from the Defendant. Robertson believes this overstates or exaggerates the accuracy of hair analysis in general. This might require a hearing if it were not for the remainder of Malone's testimony and the Defense expert. Specifically, Malone testified before the jury that hair analysis is not as precise as a fingerprint and he could not say that the hair could only have come from the Defendant. Further, the jury heard from a Defense forensic examiner from FDLE who testified that she could not conclude the hair was from Duckett. There is no basis for relief.

(V6, R953-54). Those findings are supported by the record, and establish that no evidentiary hearing was necessary.<sup>5</sup> Duckett's claim that the jury "heard false, unreliable and misleading

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Duckett does not challenge the findings of the trial court. While that court did not explicitly speak to it, Robertson's report is heavily biased in favor of Duckett, to the point of assigning error on grounds that appear frivolous.

testimony" is simply not true -- the "Robertson Report," when rationally considered, does not support that conclusion. The files and records of the case conclusively show that Duckett is not entitled to any relief, and the successive motion was properly denied without an evidentiary hearing.

## II. THE "PORTER V. MCCOLLUM" CLAIM

On pages 34-57 of his brief, Duckett says that Porter v. McCollum, 558 U.S. 30 (2009) should somehow be applicable to his case, thereby supplying a basis for relief. This claim was denied by the Circuit Court, which found, as a matter of law, that Porter is not a basis for relief under this Court's decision in Walton v. State, 77 So. 3d 639 (Fla. 2011). (V5, R738-40; V6, R947). That result is correct in all respects, and should not be disturbed.

Duckett's claim that *Porter* is available to him was squarely rejected by this Court in *Walton*, where this Court held:

The trial level postconviction court here properly Walton's second postconviction successive denied motion because the decision in *Porter* does not constitute a fundamental change in the law that mandates retroactive application under Witt. Walton filed his motion well after the one-year deadline for postconviction motions under rule 3.851. Walton's claim that *Porter* applies retroactively is incorrect and insufficient as a matter of law for a successive motion because the decision in Porter does not concern a major change in constitutional law of fundamental significance. Rather, *Porter* involved а mere and evolutionary application refinement and development of the Strickland analysis, i.e., it addressed a misapplication of Strickland. Porter, satisfy the retroactivity therefore, does not

requirements of *Witt. See generally Witt*, 387 So. 2d at 924-31.

Further, in the proceedings below, collateral counsel essentially asked the postconviction trial court to reevaluate Walton's claims of ineffective assistance of counsel that had been litigated in his prior postconviction motion in light of the decision in Porter. This is not a permitted retroactive application as articulated in Witt, which allows a limited retroactive application only to changes in the of law that are fundamental constitutional significance.

Therefore, we affirm the postconviction court's denial of Walton's second successive postconviction motion.

Walton v. State, 77 So. 3d 639 (Fla. 2011). Walton is dispositive, and there is no need or justification for the expenditure of any further resources on Duckett's Porter claim.

### Duckett's claim is procedurally barred.

In addition to being foreclosed by binding precedent, Duckett's "Porter claim" is time barred, and no exception to the time bar exists. Duckett does no more than re-argue facts adduced in the prior postconviction proceedings -- those issues were decided by this Court in 2005 and are procedurally barred. Duckett v. State, 918 So. 2d 224 (Fla. 2005).

Duckett previously raised the same claim of ineffective assistance of counsel that he seeks to relitigate here, and this Court decided that claim. As this Court has held, attempts to relitigate claims that have previously been raised and rejected are procedurally barred. *See Wright v. State*, 857 So. 2d 861, 868 (Fla. 2003). Under the law of the case doctrine, Duckett

cannot relitigate a claim that has been denied by the trial court and affirmed by the appellate court. State v. McBride, 848 So. 2d 287, 289-290 (Fla. 2003). It is also well-established that piecemeal litigation of claims of ineffective assistance of counsel is clearly prohibited. Pope v. State, 702 So. 2d 221, 223 (Fla. 1997); Lambrix v. State, 698 So. 2d 247, 248 (Fla. 1996). Since this is precisely what Duckett is attempting to do here, his ineffectiveness claim is barred and was correctly denied. See Topps v. State, 865 So. 2d 1253, 1255 (Fla. 2004) (discussing application of res judicata to claims previously litigated on the merits).

Moreover, there is an additional, and independently adequate, procedural bar to the *Porter* claim as argued in the *Initial Brief*. Duckett says that the "*Porter* refinement" (which he never describes) should be available to him on an Eighth Amendment theory. The problem for Duckett is that he has never made that argument before, and never raised that claim in the Circuit Court. **That is a procedural bar, because it is well-settled that claims cannot be raised for the first time on appeal from the denial of post-conviction relief**. *Mendoza v. State*, 87 So. 3d 644, 661 (Fla. 2011); *Connor v. State*, 979 So. 2d 852, 866 (Fla. 2007); *Franqui v State/McDonough*, 965 So. 2d 22, 32 (Fla. 2007); *Griffin v. State*, 866 So. 2d 1, 11 n. 5 (Fla. 2003). And, despite the constitutional pretensions of Duckett's brief, his

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